#### NO. 73417-2-I

### **COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I** STATE OF WASHINGTON **SEATTLE**

#### DANA IMORI AND DANIEL IMORI

Appellants,

VS.

#### MARINATION, LLC

Respondent.

#### APPELLANTS OPENING BRIEF AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Peter J. Nichols WSBA No. 16633 Attorneys for Appellants

Peter J. Nichols Law Office of Peter J. Nichols, P.S. 2611 N.E. 113th Street., Suite. 300 Seattle, WA. 98125 206-440-0879 peternichols@msn.com

#

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. Summary Judgment. Whether the Court erred in granting summary judgment when in the light most favorable to the non-moving party there are specific facts stated by Dana Imori, showing that the Respondent had actual notice of a greasy spill, did not properly remove nor properly warn Imori of the dangerous condition. Marination knew of the danger of the greasy floor, left it wet, did not dry it and did not place the warning sign in a position that would warn customers of the dangerous condition.
- B. Summary Judgment. Whether the Court erred in granting summary judgment when there was a genuine issue of fact as to whether the Marination restaurant followed its own posted clean up procedures.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about November 29, 2013, appellant Dana Imori, hereinafter referred to as "IMORI" went to respondent Marination Ma Ka, restaurant, hereinafter referred to as "Marination" to order take out lunch. She placed her order with the cashier and paid the amount due. While she was waiting for her order she decided to use the restroom. As she walked toward the restroom she slipped on a greasy liquid that was on the floor and fell and fractured her knee cap. See Dec. of Dana Imori, CP 67 -74.

As Dana was laying on the floor in pain, her pants were soaking up the greasy liquid that was left on the floor. She took a cell phone photograph of an A- frame type warning sign that was faced in the opposite direction of her travel path toward the bathroom. See Ex. "A", to the Dec. of Dana Imori. CP 69 -71. She also took photographs of the greasy liquid on the floor. See Ex. "B" and "C" to the Dec. of Dana Imori. CP 71-74. She did not see the liquid on the floor nor the A frame sign prior to her fall. See Dec. of Dana Imori, CP 67 - 68.

Prior to Dana's arrival at Marination, the respondent's employees were alerted by a customer that there had been a greasy spill near the bathroom. Marination's employee Alex Smith was asked to clean up the greasy spill. See Witness Statement dated 12/10/13 attached as Ex "A" to Dec.of Peter J. Nichols, CP 99-102. Smith had mopped the floor "in front of the bathroom door and outside the bathroom area" See Smith Dep.

Transcript Page 27, Lines 14 - 20, attached to the Dec. of Peter J. Nichols. CP 115. Smith took about a minute to mop up the greasy spill with the cleaning solution. Smith Transcript Page21, Lines 14 - 19. CP 113 -114. He did not dry the floor. Smith Transcript Page 20, Lines 19 - 21. CP 113 - 114. He then placed a single A frame warning barricade sign

underneath the fire extinguisher next to the bathroom door and went back in the kitchen. Smith Transcript Page 29, Lines 2 - 5. CP 115.

There is a factual dispute in the testimony of Imori and Smith on the placement of the warning sign and the amount of greasy liquid left on the floor.

Smith did not follow the cleaning solution manufacturer's instructions, which require the area mopped to also be rinsed and dried. Smith did not place enough A frame warning barricades around the spill. See Dec. of William Christenson. CP 58.

#### III. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review.

On appeal of summary judgment, the standard of review is de novo, and the appellate court performs the same inquiry as the trial court. <u>Lybbert v.</u> <u>Grant County,</u> 141 Wn..2d 29, 34, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). When ruling on a summary judgment motion, the court is to view all facts and reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorably toward the

non-moving party. Id at 34, quoting Weyerhauser Co., v Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 123 Wn. 2d 897, 874 P.2d 142 (1994). A court may grant summary judgment if the pleadings, affidavits, and depositions establish that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a mater of law. Id at 34, quoting Ruff v. King County, 125 Wn.2d 697, 703, 887 P.2d 886 (1995) and CR56 (c).

In the context of a negligence action, plaintiff must prove the elements of (1) existence of a duty, (2) breach of that duty (3) resulting injury and (4) causation. <u>Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Society</u>, 124 Wn.2d 121, 127-128, 875 P.2d 621 (1994).

#### **DUTY**

- B. Marination owes a duty to Imori as she was a business invitee.

  As a purchaser of food at the restaurant Imori was a business invitee.

  The Court in Tincani, at 138(quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts

  Section 343, (1965)) held that a possessor of land is liable to

  invitees for injury causing conditions if he or she:
- a.) knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition, and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to such invitees, and
- b.) should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will

fail to protect themselves against it, and

c.) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect them against the danger.

The Court in <u>Tincani</u>, stated "an invitee "is...entitled to expect that the possessor of land will exercise reasonable care to make the land safe for his [or her] entry" Restatement. (Second) of Torts Section 343 cmt.b. Reasonable care requires the landowner to inspect for dangerous conditions "followed by such repair, safeguards, or warning as may be reasonably necessary for the [the invitee's] protection under the circumstances." Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 343 cmt. b.

Marination owed a duty to Imori to inspect the greasy spill and to make a reasonable effort to clean up the greasy spill and warn Imori of the dangerous condition. Marination breached that duty.

#### **BREACH**

C. <u>Marination breached its duty to Imori by not removing the danger and not reasonably warning her of the danger.</u>

There is evidence that Marination had notice of the dangerous condition as it sent out Alex Smith to clean up a greasy spill. See Smith Statement on December 10, 2013, CP 102.

Smith testified he took a minute to mop the floor. CP 113. He left

it wet and damp. CP. Smith testified in his 12/10/13 statement that he mopped a "5ft area in front of the bathroom". CP 102. In his 1-22-14 statement he testified "I mopped in front of the bathroom and outside the bathroom area. The area was about six feet in diameter. It was a spot mop". CP 104-106. During his deposition when asked about how big the spill was he testified "Oh, probably no more - - the spill itself was no more than eight inches in diameter, and I mopped an area that was like two or three feet in diameter. It was a spot mop." CP 113.

When asked if the floor was still wet he testified "Yeah. It was a bit damp". CP 112-114.

This testimony conflicts with Dana Imori's that she did not see the clear greasy liquid on the floor when she slipped and fell her pants got soaked from the greasy liquid that was left on the floor. For summary judgment purposes reasonable minds can differ on whether in one minute of time Smith cleaned up the clear greasy spill or made it worse by spreading the greasy liquid over a larger area and not removing the grease.

Smith further testified that he put up a yellow A- Frame warning sign under the fire extinguisher next to the bathroom door. CP 115. The location of the greasy spill was in front of the bathroom door. CP 115.

Contradicting Smith's testimony is the Imori photograph of the A-Frame warning sign, which is facing away from the vision of foot traffic approaching the bathroom. CP 71. Imori testified she did not see the sign prior to falling.

These are material facts, which are for the jury to decide whether Marination took reasonable steps to remove the danger and warn its customers of the danger.

In the light most favorable to Imori, Marination breached its duty by leaving the greasy liquid on the floor and not warning her of greasy liquid in front of the bathroom door.

#### **CAUSATION**

#### D. Proximate cause is a jury question.

The issue of proximate cause is generally a question of fact for the jury and not subject to determination at summary judgment as a matter of law. Ruff v. County of King, 125 Wn.2d 697, 703-4, 887 P.2d 886 (1995). Because the question of proximate cause is for the jury, "it is only when the facts are undisputed and the inferences therefrom are plain and incapable of reasonable doubt or difference of opinion that it may be a

question for the Court." <u>Bernethy v/ Walt's Failor's Inc</u>, 97 Wn.2d 929, 935, P.2d 280 (1982).

Here Dana Imori did not see the greasy liquid on the floor before she fell. The warning sign was not facing her as she approached the bathroom. Alex Smith only spent a minute attempting to cleanup the greasy spill and placed the warning sign in a place that did not warn customers of the danger.

Reasonable minds can differ based upon the evidence before the court.

There is no question that the Respondent had notice of the greasy spill.

There is factual issue of whether the Respondent removed the danger and reasonably warned Imori under the circumstances, which is a question for the jury to decide.

E. Summary Judgment is not appropriate when the Respondent did not even follow its own posted clean up procedures.

On March 4, 2015, pursuant to a CR 34 visit, Imori's expert
William Christenson gathered factual data for use in his opinions.
He noted that:

"The manufacturer's posted instructions for the FC-2 Bio-Based floor

cleaner reportedly used to clean the floor on the day of the incident calls for the solution to be applied with a dripping wet mop. Soiled solution is to be mopped up or squeegeed to drain. Floor is then to be rinsed or damped mopped clean then dried using a dry mop or squeegee." CP 57-60.

Smith only took one minute to spot mop the floor. Smith did not apply with a dripping wet mop. Smith did not mop up or squeegee the soiled solution and he did not dry using a dry mop or squuegee.

By not following the instructions Smith increased the potential for a person to slip and fall. By not following the posted instructions a jury can infer that Marination did not reasonably remove the danger.

During the CR 34 site visit Christenson also noted during his fact finding that "Four A-frame type warning barricades and one 4-sided tower warning barricade were observed to be stored at the mop sink at time of CDR's site visit on March 4, 2015. There were at least two A-frame type warning barricades visible in the mop sink area in the photographs taken by the adjustor shortly after the accident. CP57-60.

Christenson noted that the "Standard of care is to set multiple

barricades at the outer perimeter of the hazard area to provide warning as to the location and size of the hazard area." CP 57-60.

Smith only placed one A-Frame warning sign and it was not facing the direction of oncoming foot traffic to the restaurant bathroom.

#### V. CONCLUSION

In the light most favorable to Imori, Marination had knowledge of a greasy spill. Alex Smith was sent out to clean up the greasy spill. Smith did not make a reasonable effort in cleaning up the greasy spill. He failed to clean up the grease and left the area outside the bathroom wet with greasy puddles.

The A-Frame warning sign Smith placed out was not facing oncoming foot traffic to the restaurant bathroom and therefore was not an effective warning of the dangerous greasy floor.

The Appellate Court should reverse the trial court's order granting summary judgment and give Imori her day in Court.