No. 73417-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DANA IMORI AND DANIEL IMORI

Appellants,

v.

MARINATION, LLC

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP Joanne T. Blackburn, WSBA No. 21541 Abigail J. Caldwell, WSBA No. 41776 Attorneys for Respondent

600 University Street, Suite 2100 Seattle, Washington 98101

Telephone: (206) 676-7500 Facsimile: (206) 676-7575

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

A trial court's decision to grant summary judgment is reviewed by this Court *de novo*. *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663 – 664,

958 P.2d 301 (1998); Seybold v. Neu, 105 Wn. App. 666, 675, 19 P.3d 1068 (2001); Davies v. Holy Family Hosp., 114 Wn. App. 483, 491, 183 P.3d 283 (2008). This Court should consider only evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court during the summary judgment motion. Green v. Normandy Park, 137 Wn. App. 665, 677 – 678, 151 P.3d 1038 (2007). When reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court, and may affirm a trial court's disposition of a summary judgment motion on any basis supported by the record. See Mountain Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Tydings, 125 Wn.2d 337, 341, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994); Redding v. Virginia Mason Med. Ctr., 75 Wn. App. 424, 426, 878 P.2d 483 (1994); Davies, 114 Wn. App. at 491, 183 P.3d 283 (2008).

The trial court has heard Imoris' arguments, reviewed all the evidence set before it by both parties, and denied Imoris' claim of negligence. Moreover, the trial court considered Imoris' motion for reconsideration, which reiterated their original argument and added new, inappropriate testimony on the law surrounding the standard of care, and denied Imoris' request to reverse its ruling on summary judgment. Marination respectfully asks this Court in reviewing the evidence before it to again deny Imoris' arguments and affirm the trial court's decision

dismissing Imoris' lawsuit against Marination, consistent with Washington precedent for premise liability for business invitees.

Summary judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). Once the moving party has met its burden by alleging there is no genuine issue of material fact or insufficient evidence to support the claim against it, the burden shifts to the nonmoving party to set forth "specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial." *Rathvon v. Columbia Pac. Airlines*, 30 Wn. App. 193, 201, 633 P.2d 122 (1981). In doing so, the nonmoving party can no longer rely on allegations in the pleadings, *Ashcroft v. Wallingford*, 17 Wn. App. 853, 854, 565 P.2d 1224 (1997), and cannot rely on speculation or argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain. *Marshall v. Bally's Pacwest, Inc.*, 94 Wn. App. 372, 377, 972 P.2d 475 (1999).

In a negligence action, the nonmoving party must present proof sufficient to allow a reasonable person to conclude that the harm, more probably than not, happened in such a way that the moving party should be held liable. *Gardner v. Seymour*, 27 Wn.2d 802, 808–09, 180 P.2d 564 (1947). In supporting its argument, the nonmoving party cannot provide

reasonable inferences based upon conjecture. *Id.* at 808. Further, all affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge and set forth admissible evidence. CR 56 (e). Inadmissible evidence and speculation is insufficient to rebut summary judgment and sustain Imoris' claims.

B. The Trial Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment.

1. Imori Cannot Establish that Marination Owed a Duty.

The mere fact that the nonmoving party sustained an injury does not entitle the party to put the defendant to the expense of trial. *Little v. Countrywood Homes, Inc.*, 132 Wn. App. 777, 781, 133 P.3d 944 (2006) *citing Marshall*, 94 Wn. App. at 377 (an accident does not necessarily lead to an inference of negligence).

A negligence action requires the plaintiff to prove: (1) the existence of a duty, (2) breach of that duty, (3) resulting injury, and (4) proximate cause. *Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc'y*, 124 Wn.2d 121, 127–28, 875 P.2d 621 (1994). The threshold determination of whether the defendant owes a duty to the plaintiff is a question of law. *Id. citing Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assocs.*, 116 Wn.2d 217, 220, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991); *Pedroza v. Bryant*, 101 Wn.2d 226, 228, 677 P.2d 166 (1984). Where there is an absence of even one element necessary to establishing a prima facie case of negligence, plaintiffs' claims must fail

as a matter of law. See Versteeg v. Mowery, 72 Wn.2d 754, 755, 435 P.2d 540 (1967).

Section 343 of the RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS provides that a landowner is liable for an invitee's physical harm caused by a condition on the land only if the landowner:

- (a) knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition, and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to such invitees, and
- (b) should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves against it, and
- (c) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect them against the danger.

Iwai v. State, 129 Wn.2d 84, 94, 915 P.2d 1089 (1996) (citing RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS §343); see also, Fredrickson v. Bertolino's Tacoma, Inc., 131 Wn. App. 183, 189, 127 P.3d 5 (2005). In sum, a landowner is liable for an invitee's physical harm caused by a condition on the land if, and only if, the landowner should have realized an unreasonable risk existed and thereafter failed to protect the invitee. Barker v. Skagit Speedway, Inc., 119 Wn. App. 807, 812, 82 P.3d 244 (2003). Plaintiff presumes Marination owes them a duty and fails to provide legal or factual support, analysis, or admissible evidence that

establishes any of the three requisite elements to establishing a duty by Marination. As set forth below, Imori cannot establish a duty and without a duty, Imori cannot sustain a claim of negligence. Br. of Appellant at pp. 5 – 6; *Ruff v. County of King*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 707, 887 P.2d 886 (1995).

a. There was No Unreasonably Dangerous Condition.

The first element of the three part test is that the landowner "knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition, and should realize that it involved an unreasonable risk of harm to such invitees." A necessary predicate to establishing this factor is the existence of a condition that poses an "unreasonable risk of harm" to invitees. Plaintiffs cannot establish this necessary element.

Washington courts have unequivocally held that water or mere wetness on the floor is not an unreasonably dangerous condition. In *Brant v. Market Basket Stores, Inc.*, 72 Wn.2d 446, 433 P.2d 863 (1967), the plaintiff slipped and fell inside a store within 8 to 12 feet of an entrance. Water was on the floor, having been tracked in by customers from outside, where it had been snowing. The court affirmed a summary judgment dismissal of the plaintiff's case, and in doing so quoted *Shumaker v. Charada Inv. Co.*, 183 Wash. 521, 49 P.2d 44 (1935): "A wet cement surface does not create a condition dangerous to pedestrians. It is a most common condition, and one readily noticed by the most casual glance."

Brant, 72 Wn.2d at 450, 433 P.2d 863 (quoting Shumaker, 183 Wash. at 530–31). The court held that something more must be shown to establish that water makes a floor dangerously slippery. *Id.* at 448–49, *citing Hooser v. Loyal Order of Moose, Inc.*, 69 Wn.2d 1, 416 P.2d 462 (1966); *Hanson v. Lincoln First Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n*, 45 Wn.2d 577, 277 P.2d 344 (1954); *Pement v. F. W. Woolworth Co.*, 53 Wn.2d 768, 337 P.2d 30 (1959). There is no liability when a plaintiff cannot come forward with evidence "other than the fact that the plaintiff slipped and fell, to establish that a dangerous condition existed." *Brant*, 72 Wn. 2d at 448.

Brant forecloses Plaintiffs' claims. They have not, and cannot, establish that the floor was dangerously slippery. Imori repeatedly claimed that she "fell on water that had spilled on the floor," stating "I did not see the water...until I fell." Imori now claims that the substance on the floor was grease, not water, but this is contrary to their allegations and testimony. Indeed, it is contrary to Imoris' own photographs that depict water on the floor though it is unclear where that water derived from, most likely from the ice Imori was given by an employee after the fall.

In their Complaint, responses to discovery, and even in Ms. Imori's declaration in response to Marination's motion for summary judgment, Imori repeatedly contends that the substance upon which she slipped was water. CP 2, 24, 67, 68, 72.

Additionally, Imori has no specific, factual evidence that the liquid on the floor was grease or anything other than water. "A 'fact' is a reality rather than supposition or opinion." *McBride v. Walla Walla County*, 95 Wn. App. 33, 37, 975 P.2d 1029 (1999). "The facts required by CR 56(e) to defeat a summary judgment motion are evidentiary in nature. Ultimate facts or conclusions of fact are insufficient. Likewise, conclusory statements of fact will not suffice." *Overton v. Consolidated Ins. Co.*, 145 Wn.2d 417, 430 – 431, 38 P.3d 322 (2002)(internal citations omitted). The only mention of grease in the record is hearsay. Marination's employee, Mr. Smith prepared a Witness Statement eleven days after the incident wherein he wrote that another Marination employee told that employee that some unknown guest had spilled something greasy. During Mr. Smith's deposition he was questioned about the substance he personally observed and mopped, and about his Witness Statement:

O: So the first sentence is accurate?

A: Minus the last word.

Q: Why?

A: Because it was a clear liquid.

Q: So why did you write "greasy"?

A: I don't think I was really thinking about it when I wrote this. I was just kind of writing down the basic statement and probably used that just out of lack of care.

Q: Did Denise tell you that somebody spilled something greasy?

A: No. Beverage.

. . .

Q: Do you have any idea what spilled?

A: I have theories.

Q: I just want to know what you know. I don't want you to guess.

A: Well, it was a clear liquid, so it could have been water or lemonade, Sprite. CP 113.

Mr. Smith's Witness Statement constitutes inadmissible hearsay and is not a specific, evidentiary fact upon which Imori can defeat summary judgment.

In Wiltse v. Albertson's Inc., 116 Wn.2d 452, 805 P.2d 793 (1991), our Supreme Court cited with approval the following observations by the Ninth Circuit in Kangley v. United States, 788 F.2d 533 (9th Cir. 1986):

Washington cases make it clear that the mere presence of water on a floor where the plaintiff slipped is not enough to prove negligence on the part of the owner or occupier of the building. To prove negligence, the plaintiff must prove that water makes the floor dangerously slippery and that the owner knew or should have known both that water would make the floor slippery and that there was water on the floor at the time the plaintiff slipped.

Wiltse, 116 Wn.2d at 459–60 (citing Kangley, 788 F.3d at 534–35) (internal citations omitted). The burden is on Imori to prove all there necessary elements, yet they cannot prove any element: that the alleged water made the floor "dangerously slippery", that Marination knew or should have known that the alleged water would make the floor slippery, or that there even was residual water on the floor when Mrs. Imori allegedly slipped.

Imori retained Mr. William Christenson as an expert in this matter. Mr. Christenson had the opportunity to inspect Marination Ma Kai and conduct the testing he felt appropriate. Mr. Christenson conducted no testing. Imori has no objective evidence to establish that "something more" was present on the floor to cause the floor to become "dangerously slippery." Even if the substance was grease, as Imori now claims it was despite any substantive evidence to support that claim, there is no evidence that such substance created an unreasonably dangerous condition to satisfy the first part of this test. The undisputed evidence supports at best a "guess or a hunch", "highly speculative conjecture", that the floor was slippery, much less "dangerously slippery." Imori must not only prove that water or wetness existed at the floor at the time of the fall but also that such water or wetness created an unreasonably dangerous condition. They failed to prove so, and cannot establish negligence. Where plaintiff fails to provide evidence that the floor was slippery, dismissal is warranted. See Merrick v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 67 Wn.2d 426, 429-30, 407 P.2d 960 (1965) ("Any idea of a negligently maintained washroom floor derived from such evidence would be no more than a guess or a hunch – a highly speculative conjecture – for no one testified that...the floor was in fact slippery.")

b. Marination had no Reason to Expect that Imori Would Fail to Discover the Alleged Danger.

Not only is Imori unable to satisfy the first element of the test necessary to impart a duty upon Marination, but Imori likewise cannot establish the second element: that Marination "should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves against it." *Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 94 (citing RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS §343). In *Pearce v. Motel 6, Inc.*, 28 Wn. App. 474, 624 P.2d 215 (1981), the court clarified that a defendant's duty was "tempered by what it could reasonably expect its guests would perceive for themselves." *Id.* at 479.

If we ignore this element, defendants are virtually rendered insurers of their business invitees, and the Courts have held that defendants hold no such obligation. *Id.* at 479-80. The *Pearce* Court also cited *Leek v. Tacoma Baseball Club*, 38 Wn.2d 362, 229 P.2d 329 (1951), holding that a party's "failure to observe what was plainly there to be observed cannot ... operate to enlarge a respondent's duty of care beyond that which it would otherwise be." *Id.* at 369. Water on the floor is a most common condition to be readily noticed by invitees. *See Brant*, 72 Wn.2d at 450.

It is undisputed that Marination posted a Sign in the immediate vicinity of the mopped area. Imori argues that there was only one sign and

it was placed next to the bathroom door, not in front of it, thus, the warning was insufficient. However, Imori offers no evidence that Marination should have expected that customers would not have seen a large, yellow warning sign in a small lobby. It would not be safe to post the Sign directly in front of a door where patrons are continually entering and exiting, and would move the sign in order to enter the restroom. Instead, placing the Sign directly adjacent to the bathroom door in a small lobby corridor is sufficient to provide warning to a customer approaching the bathroom. Imori claims she did not see the Sign. That claim alone is insufficient to impart liability on Marination as it had no reason to expect that Imori would fail to notice a large, yellow sign posted directly adjacent to the bathroom door, and it had no duty to insure Mrs. Imori's safety when she failed to pay attention and observe the Sign, and protect herself accordingly.

c. Marination Exercised Reasonable Care.

After receiving notification of the spill, Marination immediately had employee Alex Smith mop the area and place a Sign warning patrons of the recent mopping and potential wet floor. Mr. Smith admitted that the mopping was reasonably quick because the area of the clear liquid spill was small. Likewise, one Sign was sufficient to warn customers of the mopped area. Imori contends without foundation or admissible evidence

that Mr. Smith's mopping was insufficient as to process and that he did not place enough warning Signs to alert patrons. The third element of the RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS §343 requires Imori prove that Marination "fail[ed] to exercise reasonable care to protect them against danger." *Iwai*, 129 Wn.2d at 94. Marination's actions after it learned of the spilled liquid were reasonable and sufficient to protect Mrs. Imori and other patrons against the alleged danger of wetness on the concrete floor.

Marination promptly mopped the area with a clean mop and biodegradable, quick drying mop solution, leaving no residual puddles of water, and put up a large, yellow, warning sign near the area mopped. Although there are no published Washington decisions directly addressing whether a "Caution: Wet Floor" sign constitutes reasonable care after mopping up a spill, there is a large body of persuasive precedent establishing that erecting a "Wet Floor" sign or similar warnings constitutes reasonable care.

In *Golden Corral Corp. v. Trigg*, 443 S.W.3d 515, 519-20 (Tex. App. 2014), plaintiff testified that she did not see the warning sign, yet there was "no evidence to show that she was visually impaired. And, the video conclusively shows that the sign was displayed in a location that gave Cynthia reasonable notice of the hazard where she slipped. While Golden Corral could have provided a warning that was inescapably

obvious, it had no duty to do so." In Eure v. Kroger Ltd. P'ship I, No. 7:11-CV-00190, 2012 WL 896347, at *7 (W.D. Va. Mar. 15, 2012), defendant mopped the spill area and placed a yellow warning cone. "That was all that ordinary care required of Kroger as a premises owner. . . . While the result might have been different if Eure had fallen twelve feet from where the cone was placed . . . Eure fell only several feet away from where the cone stood. Furthermore, she concedes that she did not see the large yellow warning cone." In Scott v. Wal-Mart Stores E., Inc., Civil Action No. 2:07cv41KS-MTP, 2008 WL 346096, at *4 (S.D.Miss. Feb. 6, 2008) defendant was found to have used reasonable care in cleaning the area around an ice cooler after loading it and then placing a warning sign in the alter to alert customers to unseen hazards. "That is all that is required of a premise's owner." The court in Lee v. Ryan's Family Steak Houses, Inc., 2006-1400 (La. App. 1 Cir. 5/4/07), 960 So.2d 1042, 1047 (La. Ct. App.) found that an "approximately three-foot-high yellow warning cone containing the universal symbol for a wet floor to be adequate to alert a patron of a hazardous condition." Finally, in *Lindquist* v. Dairy Mart/Convenience Stores of Ohio, Inc., No. 97-A-0015, 1997 WL 1945289, at *5 (Ohio Ct. App. Nov. 14, 1997), "[a]ppellees satisfied this duty by placing the warning cone at the front of the store where incoming customers could see it."

Imori contends that whether Marination took reasonable steps to clean the spill and warn customers is a question that only a jury can determine. However, Imori has provided no factual or legal support to call into question the reasonableness of Marination's action. In direct contrast, extensive case law across the country has held that a warning sign near the area mopped constitutes reasonable care in warning patrons. Imori has the burden of proving that reasonable care was not exercised, and offers no substantive or admissible evidence to even begin to meet this requirement to sustain their claim.

2. There Are No Questions of Fact.

Imori has not presented evidence sufficient to establish any one of the three requisite elements of RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS §343 to impart a duty on Marination for business invitees. Without any argument or evidence to establish a duty, Imoris' claim must fail as a matter of law. Instead, Imori offers speculation, conjecture, and inadmissible expert opinion to attempt to create a question of fact with regard to causation and whether Marination followed clean up procedures. The courts do not turn to the other elements of negligence unless the factors creating a duty have been established. Where that has not occurred, as is the case here where Imori offers no substantive or legal basis imparting a duty, disputing the element of causation is inappropriate. Moreover, whether Marination

followed any particular cleaning procedures is wholly irrelevant to whether Marination owed a duty to Imori and whether that duty was breached. Nonetheless, Marination will address these arguments should this Court find a duty and move forward in the negligence analysis.

3. There is No Evidence to Support Imoris' Claim that Marination Failed to Exercise Reasonable Care.

Imori relies solely on the Declaration of Mr. Christenson to assert that Marination failed to "even follow its own posted clean up procedures" and violated the standard of care "to set multiple barricades" at the hazard area. Imori asserts that Mr. Smith did not take enough time to clean the area, did not squeegee the mop, and did not set sufficient barriers to warn patrons of the mopped area. All of these assertions are baseless, and Imori has provided no admissible evidence or legal theory to prove that Marination failed to exercise reasonable care. First, there is no evidence offered on the amount of time one must take to mop a spill. Conjecture and argumentative assertions alone will not rebut summary judgment. Second, Mr. Smith wrung out the mop at least twice during the clean-up, ensuring that no spilled liquid remained on the floor and that there was no standing water or puddles when he was done. Moreover, the mop solution is quick drying and does not need a towel dry as a standard procedure. Finally, there is no standard of care on how many warning signs must be

placed at a mopped area. Case law on point indicates that one sign is sufficient to warn patrons.

Imori argues that "by not following the instructions Smith increased the potential for a person to slip and fall." Br. of Appellant at 10. This is an unsupported conclusory assertion that cannot defeat summary judgment. Imori offers no admissible expert testimony, objective testing, or even the instructions upon which they are relying to make this assertion. Imori inappropriately opines that the potential for a fall was increased based upon Mr. Smith's actions, yet, again, fails to provide any evidence to support this conclusion.

In a motion for summary judgment, affidavits must be based on the personal knowledge of the affiants. CR 56(e). An expert's affidavit submitted in opposition to a motion for summary judgment must be factually based and must affirmatively show that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. *McKee v. American Home Products Corp.*, 113 Wn.2d 701, 706, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989). The opinion of an expert that is only a conclusion or that is based on assumptions is inadmissible. *Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Ctr.*, 117 Wn.2d 772, 787, 819 P.2d 370 (1991). "The limitations on expert opinion testimony are ... well settled. The opinion must be founded on facts in evidence, whether disputed or undisputed, and all material facts necessary to the formulation

of a sound opinion must be considered." *Tokarz v. Ford Motor Co.*, 8 Wn. App. 645, 653, 508 P.2d 1370 (1973). "It is well established that conclusory or speculative expert opinions lacking an adequate foundation will not be admitted." *Miller v. Likins*, 109 Wn. App. 140, 148, 34 P.3d 835 (2001).

Imori argues that Marination did not follow its "own posted clean" up procedures", but Imori did not provide the trial court with a copy of those procedures at the time of the alleged fall. More importantly, Imori's expert opines on the instructions without providing them to the court, without stating that he ever reviewed the instructions and without evidence that these instructions were the same as those posted at the time of the incident. CP 58. This argument and expert opinion is inadmissible as no facts are in evidence or the record upon which to base the assertion that the procedures were not followed. See Tokarz, 8 Wn. App. at 653. This Court cannot review information and evidence that was not presented to the trial court when reviewing the record de novo. Green, 137 Wn. App. at 677 – 678. Imori fails to provide the instructions that Marination allegedly failed to follow and cannot use a speculative argument to create a question of fact. Moreover, Imori's expert's opinion is inadmissible as it is not based on evidence in the record. "There is no value in an opinion where material supporting facts are not present." Davidson v. Municipality of

Metropolitan Seattle, 43 Wn. App. 569, 575, 719 P.2d 569 (1986). A fact finder cannot infer that specific directions were followed or not followed when the directions are not provided and Mr. Christenson's testimony is entirely unsupported. CP 57 – 66. Any argument regarding the mopping instructions must be disregarded due to the lack of admissible evidence provided by Imori.

Finally, Imori's argument that Marination breached a "standard of care" with regard to how many warning signs must be posted also fails as a matter of law. Imori relies upon Mr. Christenson who opines that the "standard of care is to set multiple barricades at the outer perimeter of the hazard area to provide warning as to the location and size of the hazard area." CP 58. Imori provides no documentation on what particular standard of care is being analyzed and no legal authority supporting this contention. Mr. Christenson is an expert in "construction management, building and civil construction, building envelope investigations, and building envelope design." CP 61 - 64. He does state that he has been a "Personal Injury – Consulting Expert" but no detail is provided as to what that entailed, including in what settings he has consulted. It is clear that Mr. Christenson is a construction professional. However, he has provided no evidence of experience in the restaurant industry or safety analysis in the restaurant industry. The standard of care for how many signs and

where such signs should be placed to sufficiently warn customers after an area is spot-mopped is well beyond his area of expertise and is an argumentative assertion and conclusory statement that not only is inadmissible but also cannot create a question of fact. "An expert may not offer opinions on standards of care when they provide no evidence that they have any expertise regarding that relevant standard of care." *Tortes v. King County*, 119 Wn. App. 1, 13, 84 P.3d 252 (2003).

Furthermore, the trend among courts is that a single warning sign in a reasonably visible location at or adjacent to the mopped area satisfies the reasonable care requirement. Mr. Christenson cannot simply offer a baseless opinion of law in the guise of expert testimony when he has set forth no experience, factual support, documentation, or any admissible evidence to support his position.

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